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I’ve always wished to be laid when I died

In a little churchyard on the green hillside.

By my father’s grave, there let me be,

O bury me not on the lone prairie.

—“THE COWBOY’S LAMENT,” TRADITIONAL

Death is only a state in which the others are left.

Its reality explodes only in the living.

—WILLIAM FAULKNER

Show me a hero and I will write you a tragedy.

—F. SCOTT FITZGERALD


To my grandfather’s “three blondes,” who paid a bitter price:

Frances Bonnyman Evans

Alexandra Bonnyman Prejean

Josephine “Tina” Bonnyman

and

To Mark Noah, the right man at the right time—just like Sandy
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Situation map of Betio island, Tarawa Atoll, Gilbert Islands at 6 p.m. November 22, 1943. The arrow indicates the location of the bunker where Sandy Bonnyman was killed earlier that day. US Marine Corps Historical Division.
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Schematic of “Bonnyman’s Bunker,” drawn December 12, 1943, following the battle. Julie Kunkel rendering; original, Marine Corps Combat Art Collection.


PROLOGUE

JANUARY 1944

She was nine years old when the whispering began in late December 1943.

Golden-haired, athletic, wary, and more than a little impetuous, Frances Bonnyman had attended five schools in the past year. She had liked Mrs. Turley’s one-room private academy in Santa Fe, where her family had been living since her father began operating a copper mine in 1938. She loved the exotic mélange of cultures—Spanish, Pueblo, Anglo—in the high-desert town at the foot of the pine-dark, sere Sangre de Cristo Mountains, where she attended Indian dances and picked up Spanish from neighborhood playmates.

She didn’t see much of her mother Josephine, or Jo, but that was all right by her. She and her younger sister Tina were well cared for by the cook, Casamira, Sister Michelle, a nun hired by their grandmother to instruct them in the Catholic faith, and sometimes, the parents of friends and neighbors. Baby Alexandra, called Alix, was born in 1940 and had her own nurse, Miss Rosa Dee.

Fran didn’t see a lot of her father, either. Tall, handsome Alexander Bonnyman, Jr.—known to all as Sandy—spent five or six days a week running the mine near Santa Rosa, more than a hundred miles of bad road distant, on the spare plains of eastern New Mexico. But he doted on his oldest daughter when he came home on weekends, holding her hand as they walked in to Sunday Mass at the soaring, ornate Cathedral Basilica of St. Francis of Assisi. Afterwards, they always went to the Capitol Pharmacy soda fountain for a chocolate shake or soda.

Fran would never forget one Sunday in particular, as she watched her father pace the floor with intense agitation, the radio buzzing and crackling in the background with the frightening news that the Japanese Empire had attacked the United States at faraway Pearl Harbor. Seven months later, her father, thirty-two, would board a train to California as a private in the United States Marine Corps Reserve.

Fran missed him and wrote him often on cream-colored stationery with the image of a small, smiling marine in dress blues on top: “When are you coming home? I wish I could see you now!”1 Sandy wrote to his “big girl” just as often, urging her to keep up her straight A’s, go to Communion every Sunday and confession at least every two weeks, be nice to her sisters, and help “Mommie” and Dee. He sent her dollar bills for doing chin-ups and improving her swimming skills.

The summer of 1943, Jo left the girls in Knoxville to stay with their Granny and Grandfather Bonnyman. But at summer’s end, instead of taking them back to New Mexico, she enrolled Fran in school in Tennessee, left frail, sickly Tina in Knoxville, and moved with baby Alix and Dee to Mooney’s Cottages, a cluster of new, Key West-style bungalows on the beach in Fort Lauderdale. Jo returned in November to take Fran to Florida, leaving Tina with her grandparents.

As Christmas approached, Fran was excited to hear hopeful chatter among the adults that her father might come home to visit. Her cousin Sandy, just six months older, had received a V-Mail in mid-December, postmarked November 16 and featuring a cartoon crocodile in a marine helmet proclaiming, “To you in the States from us in the South Pacific, Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year,” and the hand-written message, “To Sandy with wishes for the Best of Christmases from Uncle Sandy.” But Fran hadn’t had a letter in many weeks.

What Fran, Jo, and her grandparents didn’t know was that Sandy had sailed from Wellington, New Zealand on November 1, arriving a week later at Mele Bay on the island of Efate in the Solomon Islands, where the Second Marine Division rehearsed amphibious landings in preparation for an assault on a remote coral atoll nobody had ever heard of. But by the end of the month the name would be splashed across front pages as the site of the bloodiest battle in Marine Corps history: Tarawa.

The banner headline in the New York Times on November 25 read, “RUINED BERLIN AFIRE AFTER 2D BOMBING; U.S. PLANES SMASH AT TOULON AND SOFIA; 4 JAPANESE DESTROYERS SUNK IN BATTLE.” Below the fold, a three-paragraph notice reported that marine assault battalions had “conquered the west end of Betio Island, on Tarawa atoll,” under the headline, “WE WIN GILBERTS IN 76-HOUR BATTLE.”2

Correspondent George F. Horne, whom the Times had sent to Honolulu after government news blackouts had rendered his previous beat covering shipping news on the New York waterfront obsolete, was unimpressed. The victory, he wrote, was “not of major nor decisive character,” and his dispatch dripped with drollery: “Bemused mathematicians were uncertain today as to the time length of the Gilbert Island occupation. First it was 100 hours, but official rewriting now makes it 76 hours, although lesser statisticians wandering hereabouts with pencil and paper figure slightly more.”3

The remote Gilbert Islands straddled the Pacific equator and had been under British control until the Japanese had arrived two days after Pearl Harbor. The place had hardly been mentioned in US papers until then, though the Times did run a small story in September reporting that American forces had conducted heavy bombing operations on Tarawa. And to many Americans, the foe in the Pacific, those funny little “yellow” men with buckteeth and thick, round spectacles, were a joke compared to the mighty mechanized armies of Nazi Germany. The press had convinced much of the public that the Japanese would be a pushover.

“Early in the war our communiqués were giving the impression that we were bowling over the enemy every time our handful of bombers dropped a few pitiful tons from 30,000 feet,” wrote Time-Life war correspondent Robert Sherrod. The stories “gave the impression that any American could lick twenty Japs.” But the men doing the fighting knew the brutal reality, even if censors prevented them from writing home about it. As one sergeant gloomily observed, “The war being written about in the newspapers must be a different war than we see.”4

But within days, eyewitness accounts from Sherrod and other intrepid journalists who had gone ashore with the marines had replaced the dismissive dispatches of stateside press conference attendees.

“The battle for Betio, the fiercest, bloodiest and most ruthless I have seen in the two years of the Pacific war, showed how long, hard, and costly that war will be. As it was, we won by the narrowest of margins,” wrote a correspondent for the London Daily Express.5

“Guadalcanal,” one “black-faced, red-eyed” private told a correspondent, “was a picnic compared with this.”6

News of the battle inspired the Times to editorialize, “This makes the war against the Japanese a war of extermination in which there is virtually no quarter.”7

Then, in early December, President Franklin Roosevelt authorized the distribution of film footage from the battle, including dead marines sprawled on the beach and bobbing in the lagoon (some images deemed “too grim” were voluntarily censored by newsreel companies8). “Bloody Tarawa,” as it was dubbed by the press, shocked millions of Americans out of their racially tinged fantasies that victory over the Japanese would be a cakewalk. And where Horne had seen insignificance, Sherrod sensed history: “Last week some 2,000 or 3,000 United States Marines, most of them now dead or wounded, gave the nation a name to stand beside those of Concord Bridge, the Bonhomme Richard, the Alamo, and Little Bighorn, and Belleau Wood. The name was Tarawa.”9

At Bonniefield, the elegant, Italianate mansion on Kingston Pike in west Knoxville, Fran’s grandparents, Alexander and Frances Bonnyman, anxiously scanned the papers and listened to the radio for information about the brutal Gilberts campaign. Some reports had put the casualty rate as high as ninety percent and their son Sandy had almost certainly been in on the fighting.

Alex Bonnyman, the well-connected founder and president of the booming Blue Diamond Coal Company, began making inquiries and ordered a fleet of secretaries to work their contacts for any news of his firstborn son. On December 20, one young woman received an encouraging letter from a friend working in the Department of the Navy in Washington, D.C.

“I went downstairs and looked up [sic] and Sandy is in the clear,” the Navy man reported. “I then went to the ‘Officers’ Records’ and found what I surmised: had he been hurt, unless there is some recent change I did not find (and don’t think there is), the telegram or letter [announcing his death] would have gone to 570 Garcia Street, Sta. [Santa] Fe.”10

“We haven’t heard directly from Sandy since the Gilbert Islands attack,” Alex Bonnyman told a friend, “but we did hear indirectly that he was safely out.”11

If anyone was capable of surviving such furious fighting, it was Sandy. He was tough, smart, strong, and resourceful. And in his thirty-three years he had reveled in every kind of danger and adventure with almost boyish glee.

But official news from the Pacific was still cloaked in censorship, and disturbing rumors reached the family. On December 21, the Santa Fe New Mexican reported that local Marine Pfc. Jimmy Simpson, “who was with Bonneyman’s [sic] ‘outfit’ . . . lost a good friend . . . [who] was reported killed in the battle for Tarawa island in the Marshall archipelago [sic], but the report lacked official confirmation.”12 Though unsettling, the story was so riddled with error it left plenty of room for doubt.

But the Navy man’s sleuthing, so heartening to the family, turned out to be no more reliable: Jo Bonnyman had left Santa Fe permanently but neglected to inform the Marine Corps. And so the telegram sent by Marine Corps Commandant Lt. Gen. Thomas Holcomb on December 23 bounced back from Santa Fe as undeliverable. The marines next addressed it to non-existent “Knoxville, Kentucky.” On the third try it reached the Bonnymans in Knoxville, Tennessee, and Jo received it in Fort Lauderdale on December 29.13

“DEEPLY REGRET TO INFORM YOU THAT YOUR HUSBAND FIRST LIEUTENANT ALEXANDER BONNYMAN JR USMCR WAS KILLED IN ACTION. IN THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTY AND IN THE SERVICE OF HIS COUNTRY TO PREVENT POSSIBLE AID TO OUR ENEMIES PLEASE DO NOT DIVULGE THE NAME OF HIS SHIP OF STATION PRESENT SITUATION NECESSITATES INTERMENT TEMPORARILY IN THE LOCALITY WHERE THE DEATH OCCURRED AND YOU WILL BE NOTIFIED ACCORDINGLY PLEASE ACCEPT MY HEARTFELT SYMPATHY.” 14

That’s when “three days of whispering” began, Fran Bonnyman Evans now recalls. Her mother was on the telephone all the time, speaking with a hushed urgency, behind closed doors. Something bad had happened to her father, Fran was sure, but nobody would tell her anything. To her dismay, her father’s best friend and business partner, Jimmie Russell, had arrived from Santa Fe, suitcase in hand. And it was Jimmie who finally called the little girl to stand before him, straight as the little marine on her stationery, while her mother hovered behind him.

“Your father won’t be coming back,” he said. “He’s been killed.”

It was all he said.

Fran knew better than to cry. Her mother, looking elegant in her usual stark, red lipstick, auburn hair tightly curled and coiffed like a movie star’s, began to chatter. Jo and Jimmie excitedly told Fran about the deep-sea fishing trip they’d planned for her, how wonderful it would be, on and on, her hands fluttering like birds’ wings. But the little girl didn’t want to go fishing. She knew they were just trying to distract her.

Her mother never spoke about Sandy again, as if he’d never existed at all. Everyone in Fran’s world would soon draw a curtain of silence around the subject—except for Granny. So nine-year-old Fran was left to ponder the terrible news alone. The tall, kind, handsome father whose hand she had so proudly held as they walked into church was gone. Already her memories were blurring around the edges.

Sandy’s “three blondes,” as he lovingly described them to fellow marines, would soon be broken apart and grow into adulthood knowing as little about their father, how he lived, how he died, as the rest of the world. Their grandparents would dote on them and provide for them into adulthood and beyond, with money, travel, and blue-chip social standing, but still they could not deflect the terrible consequences of losing their father.

Riven by grief, bound by the stoicism expected of their social milieu, Alex and Frances Bonnyman set about in their own ways to preserve their lost son for posterity.

Driven by guilt over his conflicted relationship with his eldest son, Alex channeled his grief into action. Using the influence he had gained as one of the South’s most successful coal magnates, he began pulling strings at the highest levels of the military and government in a quest to learn everything he could about his son’s death and, more importantly, bring his body home for burial.

But Alex would die a decade later, heartbroken and lost in a wilderness of conflicting official explanations about the whereabouts of Sandy’s remains. His younger son Gordon, who had suffered his own wounds fighting in Burma, would take up the search, pursuing even the thinnest of leads for decades, haunted by the loss of the brother he so deeply loved and admired. Yet by the dawn of the next century it seemed that Sandy Bonnyman would ultimately be “buried at sea”—the epitaph carved on the family tombstone—as rising sea levels threatened to inundate the tiny coral spit where he’d fallen.

Sandy’s mother, Frances Berry Bonnyman, had always favored the strapping, handsome, sometimes impetuous son who lovingly called her Mumsie, shielding him from his stern Scottish father, quietly enabling his adventurous spirit, and sometimes covering for his mistakes. In losing him, she lost much of her joy in life; she gave away her jewelry, stopped traveling,15 and began to suffer from illness. But she took control of her son’s legacy, polishing up his many virtues—courage, charisma, deep faith, an unquenchable embrace of life—while sanding away rough edges, presenting him as the kind of hero the world expected. Jo Bonnyman would later rue that in death Sandy had become “an absolutely perfect, and eternal, Sir Galahad.”16

But there was solace, too: Sandy Bonnyman would be awarded the nation’s highest military recognition, the Medal of Honor (sometimes referred to as the Congressional Medal of Honor) and his singular actions in the Battle of Tarawa on November 22, 1943, would earn him an enduring place in Marine Corps lore. Generations of marines, historians, and civilians would continue to speak his name with awe and reverence many decades later, and it would be bestowed upon a ship, a bridge, streets, and even a bowling alley. And long after they had forgotten all but the haziest tales of the great battle that freed them from the Japanese, poverty-stricken people living amid the environmental degradation and decaying relics of 21st-century Tarawa would still remember the name of the hero Bonnyman and tell their own versions of his mythic feat.

Yet the battle of Tarawa, so shocking and momentous in 1943, is hardly remembered by most twenty-first-century Americans, most of whom know only a handful of shorthand signifiers of the terrible Pacific war—Pearl Harbor, Iwo Jima, Hiroshima. Meanwhile, memories of Sandy Bonnyman have been replaced by the legend of 1st Lt. Alexander Bonnyman, Jr. and, unbeknownst to my family, my grandfather’s body remained hidden in the sepulchral sands of Tarawa. We didn’t know him any better than the rest of the world.

But my grandfather had been my hero since I was a small boy gazing at that medal, hanging from its fading, pale-blue ribbon against midnight velvet in a gold-painted frame on the wall in all my childhood homes. As I grew older, my hero grandfather became a perfect exemplar against whom I couldn’t help measuring myself and, failing to measure up, I turned away. It wasn’t until much later in life that I turned toward him again, inspired by a man who wanted to bring my grandfather home, a man who had no reason to care, other than admiration for what he and his fellow marines accomplished at Tarawa.

This book is the story of the quest to find Sandy Bonnyman, in both body and spirit, and bring him home.


ONE

UNKNOWN HERO

2009

In August 1973, my mother, Fran Bonnyman Evans, moved with my father, Dr. Clayton “Gus” Evans, my sister, brother, and me to a spacious new home on the northern rim of the Boulder Valley, northwest of Denver, Colorado.

With its high ceilings, tall south-facing windows, and flourishes of Santa Fe style, the new house was a big a step up from our first home in Boulder, a boxy, low-ceilinged colonial knockoff that was prone to flooding and lay directly in the path of occasional—and literal—hurricane-force winter winds.

Now we could stretch out. My mother bought a long, dark, polished oak table that dimly recalled the one at my Granny Great’s house in Knoxville, Tennessee. And now she had a perfect place to hang the portrait of her father, my grandfather, 1st Lt. Alexander “Sandy” Bonnyman, Jr., recipient of the Medal of Honor in World War II: above the fireplace in our sun-splashed living room.

Eugenia Berry Ruspoli, my grandfather’s eldest aunt on his mother’s side, had commissioned the painting in 1944. Born to a former slave-holding family in Rome, Georgia, “Aunt Jennie” had married an Italian prince, Enrico Ruspoli, in 1901, and inherited his estate, Castle Nemi, when he died just eight years later. Working her Italian connections, she commissioned celebrated Italian portrait and landscape artist Arturo Noci to create a posthumous image of her heroic nephew Sandy.

Noci succeeded beyond even the high expectations of Princess Ruspoli. The portrait is both beautiful and haunting, portraying handsome, blond, blue-eyed Sandy in marine dress blues against a sky roiling with flame-gilded smoke and a distant, impressionistic island studded with battle-blasted trees. A brilliant rainbow of award ribbons, brassy buttons and buckles, and the white disc of his cap stand out from Noci’s somber palette of war. My grandfather, too, is somber, his eyes gazing at a distant horizon, as if faintly troubled by some new realization. Subtle and haunting, the painting is far superior to the knockoff portrait by Russian-born American artist Nicholas Basil Haritonoff, which now hangs at Oak Hill Museum at Berry College in Rome, Georgia.

At age eleven, I was mesmerized by the image of the hero, whose legend had hung like a morning mist in the deep hollows of family lore ever since I could remember, and whose medal my mother always proudly displayed. Until I had outgrown such things, I would at times stand beneath the portrait, venerating my icon, sometimes even seeking his guidance at moments when I felt misunderstood or misused by the living.

Fascinated, like my father, with World War II, I’d spent countless hours slowly flipping through thousands of pages of photos in the immense Time-Life coffee table books and multi-volume subscription series about the war. I didn’t just love heroes—Batman, the Green Hornet, Tolkien’s brave hobbits—I needed them. Dissatisfied when I learned of Hitler’s desultory suicide, I regaled friends with the “true” story of the Canadian ace pilot who parachuted behind enemy lines to put the bullet in the Nazi madman’s forehead . . . then claimed the avenging airman as a relative.

Yet I was strangely incurious about my grandfather, the real-life hero in my bloodline. I did not pause particularly over images from Tarawa in all those books or ask questions of my mother or aunts. At some point, I did read the citation displayed in a golden frame next to the medal:


The President of the United States takes pride in presenting the MEDAL of HONOR posthumously to FIRST LIEUTENANT ALEXANDER BONNYMAN, JR., UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS RESERVE, for service as set forth in the following CITATION:

‘For conspicuous gallantry and intrepidity at the risk of his life above and beyond the call of duty as Executive Officer of the 2d Battalion Shore Party, 8th Marines, 2d Marine Division, during the assault against enemy Japanese-held Tarawa in the Gilbert Islands, 20–22 November 1943. Acting on his own initiative when assault troops were pinned down at the far end of Betio Pier by the overwhelming fire of Japanese shore batteries, 1st Lt. Bonnyman repeatedly defied the blasting fury of the enemy bombardment to organize and lead the besieged men over the long, open pier to the beach and then, voluntarily obtaining flame throwers and demolitions, organized his pioneer shore party into assault demolitionists and directed the blowing of several hostile installations before the close of D-day. Determined to effect an opening in the enemy’s strongly organized defense line the following day, he voluntarily crawled approximately 40 yards forward of our lines and placed demolitions in the entrance of a large Japanese emplacement as the initial move in his planned attack against the heavily garrisoned, bombproof installation which was stubbornly resisting despite the destruction early in the action of a large number of Japanese who had been inflicting heavy casualties on our forces and holding up our advance. Withdrawing only to replenish his ammunition, he led his men in a renewed assault, fearlessly exposing himself to the merciless slash of hostile fire as he stormed the formidable bastion, directed the placement of demolition charges in both entrances and seized the top of the bombproof position, flushing more than 100 of the enemy who were instantly cut down, and effecting the annihilation of approximately 150 troops inside the emplacement. Assailed by additional Japanese after he had gained his objective, he made a heroic stand on the edge of the structure, defending his strategic position with indomitable determination in the face of the desperate charge and killing 3 of the enemy before he fell, mortally wounded. By his dauntless fighting spirit, unrelenting aggressiveness and forceful leadership throughout 3 days of unremitting, violent battle, 1st Lt. Bonnyman had inspired his men to heroic effort, enabling them to beat off the counterattack and break the back of hostile resistance in that sector for an immediate gain of 400 yards with no further casualties to our forces in this zone. He gallantly gave his life for his country.’



(signed) Harry S. Truman.

But what I absorbed and remembered from those 395 words barely qualified as a Cliff’s Notes version: Killed fighting the Japanese on a faraway island called Tarawa. Won the Medal of Honor. My mother received the medal when she was twelve years old. Just knowing my grandfather was a hero, it seemed, was enough.

Perhaps that was no surprise. His heroism was a background to our lives, something to be proud of, but my mother didn’t speak of him often. I was too childishly self-absorbed to consider her deeper feelings when the subject of war arose, as when I announced that the Civil War was my “favorite” war. “The Civil War was terribly sad, brother killing brother, father killing son,” she said without judgment. “War is sometimes necessary, but it is always a tragedy.”

Visiting my Granny Great in Knoxville was an annual summer ritual, but if the adults there ever talked about my grandfather, I don’t recall (I was not yet six years old when she died in September 1968). We had occasional visits from my two fun-loving aunts, Alix and Tina, and the odd drop-in by my mother’s cousins over the years, but there was never any Sandy talk, and my siblings and I had no other encounters with the Bonnyman clan for most of my childhood.

Then in 1980, my Uncle Gordon—in fact, great-uncle; he was Sandy’s younger brother by nine years and patriarch of the clan since the death of my great-grandfather in 1953—orchestrated a reunion at the High Hampton Inn, his family’s annual summer hideaway in the remote Appalachian mountains on the border of Georgia and North Carolina. By then I was a brash eighteen-year-old headed off to college, more interested in drinking with like-minded family members than learning our shared history.

Having come of age in the immediate aftermath of Vietnam, I shared the view of my peers and saw military service as a lowly calling, an option only for kids not smart enough to go to college. I wrote furious anti-war poems, plays, and an incensed column in the school newspaper when President Jimmy Carter re-established Selective Service registration for all eighteen- to twenty-six-year-old males in response to the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan. My father, who had served two years as a Russian-language translator for the Air Force in 1950s Turkey, found me arrogant, selfish, and entitled, too loud, too opinionated, too cocksure, too much. He warned that I would soon have no friends, no girlfriend, maybe even no family; but, he advised, joining the military might teach me enough discipline and humility to avoid such a fate.

“But I don’t want to kill anyone,” I said.

“Oh, bullshit,” he said. “You’re just afraid to die.”

We were both right, though at that stage we had no way to talk about it.

My father never openly compared me to Sandy Bonnyman, but he didn’t have to. I knew I didn’t measure up. My grandfather had been a football star; I’d quit the team in junior high school so I could spend fall afternoons reading read science fiction novels that sent me on flights of thrilling imagination. Sandy was, I was certain, a good son; I was rebellious and independent and felt constrained by my family. My grandfather was a gallant Southern gentleman; I was an entitled, party-hearty, spoiled kid who had little use for authority. My grandfather was that greatest of American icons, a successful businessman; I wanted to be, of all things, a writer. Most important, Sandy Bonnyman had sacrificed his life for his country; I wouldn’t even consider joining the military.

I knew I was no Sandy Bonnyman; I would win no medals, and no princess would ever commission a famous artist to paint a heroic portrait of me. I was a rebel, a punk who walked into the world fists balled, chin outthrust, tuned to see insults wherever I turned my gaze. Though I would never be tested in battle, I would spend a lifetime seeking out adventure, risk, and challenge in a never-ending campaign to prove to the world—to myself—that I was no coward.

For most of her life, Alix Prejean had no clear idea of how her father had been killed. Just one and a half years old when Sandy Bonnyman left for Marine Corps service, his youngest daughter had a trunkful of letters, photos, and memorabilia, but no memories. She had read the Medal of Honor citation, but like me, hadn’t absorbed it.

“All those years I grew up thinking he’d been blown up by a grenade or something,” she said.1

As the eldest child, my mother, Fran Bonnyman Evans, had long been the designated family spokesperson about her father. Media sought her out whenever a Tarawa anniversary rolled around, and she dutifully answered inquiries from authors, history buffs, even Tarawa veterans. But she never liked talking about her father, and in the 1980s she surrendered her role to Alix, who embraced it with gusto. She joined the American World War II War Orphans Network, visited Camp Tarawa on the big island of Hawaii, where the Second Marine Division had been garrisoned following the battle in December 1943, and began participating in Memorial Day wreath-laying ceremonies at the National Cemetery of the Pacific on Oahu every year.

In 1994 Joseph Alexander, a retired Marine Corps colonel and military historian, wrote to my mother seeking details about her father’s pre-war life for Utmost Savagery: The Three Days of Tarawa, a comprehensive history of the battle published in 1995.

“It occurs to me that I don’t know much about Alexander Bonnyman other than: played football at Princeton, owned and operated a (several?) copper mines, obviously had kids, probably didn’t have to enlist, did so anyway, and was meritoriously commissioned a lieutenant after valorous combat service in Guadalcanal,” Alexander wrote, noting that he had gathered a wealth of biographical material on Tarawa’s three other Medal of Honor recipients. “Would you care to fill in some of the gaps as to what he was like, both as a man, and a Marine? . . . I’d love to know more.”2

My mother forwarded his request to Alix, who struck up a correspondence with the author. Alexander had published a well-received monograph on Tarawa, which recounted the canonical narrative of my grandfather’s actions. But now, based on a single fifty-year-old eyewitness account, he informed my aunt that, “events atop the bunker were not quite as melodramatic” as he’d previously written. “Your Dad’s conspicuous contributions were more in the realm of organizing and leading a demoralized group of men.”3

According to Harry Niehoff, then seventy-five, a marine corporal when he had fought beside my grandfather on his final day, Sandy had not single-handedly stood against a counterattack of desperate Japanese. Rather, the two men had lain side-by-side on the leading edge of the bunker and fended off the assault together until Sandy was killed instantly by a shot to the head, according to Niehoff. My grandfather, he told Alexander, had directed the assault with cool efficiency but no great ardor. What’s more, Niehoff, one of several marines to recommend Sandy for the Medal of Honor, now claimed to have drawn up assault plans long attributed to my grandfather.

Alix took immediate umbrage at the author’s apparent diminution of her father’s heroism. But in truth, she knew little more than Alexander about Sandy’s life, and was able to provide him with just a few sparse details and tales passed down by family members, some likely apocryphal. But she very much wanted to talk to Niehoff, who may have been the last person to see her father alive.

As it turned out, Sandy Bonnyman had been on Harry Niehoff’s mind for decades. He had even sought out my mother after someone sent him a clipping from the Denver Post about the 1985 christening of the marine prepositioning ship 1st Lt. Alex Bonnyman (so named even though my grandfather was always known as Sandy, and his marine buddies called him Bonny) in Beaumont, Texas. Niehoff wrote the paper seeking information about Fran Evans and the Post proudly reported that it had “arranged contact.”4 My mother does recall receiving a letter from Niehoff, but in keeping with her long reluctance to dredge up the painful past, she never responded. Ten years later Alix, in keeping with her long campaign to make friends with everyone—she calls herself Aunty Octopus and hugs everyone she meets, no matter what—struck up a friendship with Niehoff that lasted until his death in 2008.

Alix also asked Alexander if he had happened to come across any clues in his research regarding the final disposition of my grandfather’s remains. She had seen the ten-foot-long Italian marble headstone on the Bonnyman family plot in Knoxville, with its chiseled insistence that Sandy had been “Buried at Sea.” But she’d heard lots of other things, too, including that his bones had been buried as an unknown in the National Cemetery of the Pacific, aka The Punchbowl, just outside Honolulu. Alexander replied that Sandy was buried on Betio, “sure enough, but no one can say precisely which spot.”5

Yet when Utmost Savagery was published in 1995, Alexander wrote that Sandy’s remains, along with those of fellow Tarawa Medal of Honor recipients William Deane Hawkins and William Bordelon, “now lie in Oahu’s Punchbowl,” citing the fiftieth-anniversary edition of Tarawa: The Story of a Battle by Robert Sherrod.6

That seemed to square with my mother’s beliefs. During a 1976 Christmas trip to Hawaii, she took my sister, brother, and me to see our grandfather’s name carved into the marble walls of the Courts of the Missing at the Punchbowl, gold-painted and sporting a star, in recognition of his Medal of Honor. She told us he was buried there.

Yet she knew, or should have known, that he wasn’t. She’d written a letter just a few months earlier to request that a memorial headstone be placed in the Santa Fe National Cemetery, noting that he was still “buried at Tarawa where he was killed.”7

She also had a 1990 letter from the US Navy that confirmed her father’s remains were still somewhere on Betio.

“Regrettably, we cannot provide information on the whereabouts of your father’s remains because they were never recovered from Tarawa. That’s why his name appears on the Tablets of the Missing,” wrote Maj. A.E. Edinger. “The ravages of time, battle damage, and the circumstances of burial made locating and identifying the Tarawa dead a formidable task.”8

For whatever reason, two decades later nobody in the family seemed aware of that fact. “After all these years, I just thought, he’s dead and buried and we’ll never know,” said my aunt, Alix Prejean.9 But she remained curious, and once she got connected to the Internet at her remote home on the island of Maui, she discovered Tarawa on the Web. Jonathan Stevens, whose father Gordon had fought in the battle, created the site in 1998 as “a tribute to the 2nd Marine Division of WWII and a historical resource to further the knowledge of an epic struggle that was an integral part of the march of the United States towards defeat of Imperial Japan.”10

My aunt began routinely monitoring the site’s lively forum, Tarawa Talk, frequented by history buffs, descendants of those killed in the battle, and a slowly dwindling number of Tarawa veterans.

I had never heard of the site when my aunt sent me a brief email in late 2009—“Do you know about this?” I clicked the link and what I saw made my jaw drop. It seemed that Joseph Alexander had been right before he’d been wrong: Not only were Sandy Bonnyman’s remains not entombed in the Punchbowl, but two separate, independent civilian researchers were now claiming he was still buried on faraway Betio Island along with hundreds of other missing marines. And pressure was building for the US Department of Defense to find them and bring them home.

“Efforts to bring home the remains of more than five hundred U.S. service members killed in the World War II Battle of Tarawa received a boost from Congressman Dan Lipinski (IL-03) this week,” read a release posted on the Illinois Democrat’s website in June 2009. “Before the defense authorization bill passed the House of Representatives on Thursday, Lipinski succeeded in attaching an amendment that calls for the Defense Department to ‘recover, identify, and return remains of members of the Armed Forces from Tarawa.’”11

Congress had become involved, Stevens noted on Tarawa Talk, thanks to the “ceaseless efforts to find the missing Marines” of the two civilians, Mark Noah and Bill Niven, working separately.12

“As the area gets more populated, the chance to get this work done decreases,” declared Noah, whose non-profit organization, History Flight, Inc., had been conducting archival and field research in hopes of locating “the lost graves of Tarawa” since 2007.

More than half a century after the US Army Graves Registration Service had quietly declared the remains of nearly half the marines and sailors killed in the battle to be “unrecoverable,” the case was about to be reopened. In December 2009, the defense department’s Joint POW/MIA Accounting Agency (JPAC) in Honolulu announced that it would send an eleven-man archaeological team to Betio in August and September 2010 to excavate six locations identified by History Flight as potential gravesites. From the very beginning, the name of Alexander Bonnyman, Jr., the lone missing Medal of Honor recipient, was associated with the mission.

“There is a possibility of recovering over two hundred marines, including that of Congressional Medal of Honor recipient Lt. Alexander Bonnyman, who were buried in shallow graves after one of the most horrific battles of WWII,” former Navy gunnery officer and Vietnam veteran Kurt Hiete of California announced in an email.13

According to documents unearthed by History Flight, my grandfather was recorded as having been interred with thirty-nine other marines in a trench known as Cemetery 27, just one of scores of burial sites scattered across Betio, a spit of sand and coconut trees covering less than three-quarters of a square mile just a shade above the equator in the central Pacific. California-based Niven, a marine veteran and former commercial pilot, declared that he’d pinpointed the location of Cemetery 27, while Noah, himself a commercial pilot, had been scouring the north side of the islet using every available technology in his own efforts to find the trench.

From the beginning, Mark Noah wanted just one thing: to locate, through whatever means, Tarawa’s missing and see them brought back home to their families for burial. He didn’t want glory, or credit; he just wanted to see the job done, and he was willing to do anything to assist. “We need to get the government out there and help them do their job,” he said in 2008.14

Less than two years later, he would come to the conclusion that the government agencies tasked with recovering battlefield remains weren’t really interested in finding the lost graves of Tarawa, with or without his help.

It wasn’t until my thirties that I found myself drawn back to my grandfather and the history of Tarawa. I finally read journalist Robert Sherrod’s short, gut-wrenching 1944 eyewitness account of the battle and Alexander’s meticulous 1995 rendering, and dug out the official marine histories from trunks in my mother’s basement. In 2003, my grandmother offered to help pay my way to visit the atoll with Valor Tours, a military-history excursion company out of Sausalito, California. Inclined toward more luxurious travel, she would never dream of going herself. But as the first Bonnyman to visit the place where the great family hero had sacrificed his life, I could be her proxy; she wanted me to go. Still deaf to her feelings about her father, I declined, protesting that such a short trip wasn’t worth the price.

But seven years later, inspired by the news that my grandfather was still buried on the island and spurred by Mark Noah’s passion, I knew I had to go. As the only living grandson of Sandy Bonnyman (my brother had died in 1999 from cystic fibrosis), I had a persistent sense of guilt because I had not followed him into military service. Going to Tarawa was hardly the same thing, but it was an opportunity to give back to my grandfather in a small, belated way while representing my family.

My mother connected me with Kurt Hiete, who had contacted her the year before seeking information about Sandy Bonnyman. The rangy, affable California Vietnam veteran had visited her in Boulder, politely prompting her to replace the crumbling, faded ribbon on Sandy’s Medal of Honor. Kurt enthusiastically urged me to go and spoke on my behalf to Johnie E. Webb, civilian deputy to the commander at JPAC. He also arranged for his American Legion post to make a donation for my travel expenses.

From the moment I decided to go, I was consumed with taking up the role of paladin of my grandfather’s legacy. As a kind of penance for my long neglect, I embarked on a quest to exhume my grandfather’s life, and, if I were lucky, perhaps even his body. After all, if my family hadn’t even known he still lay sleeping beneath the sands of Tarawa, what else was I missing?

I began my excavation with the insignificant atoll that had so briefly captured America’s imagination before sinking back into obscurity, lost and forgotten by almost everyone.
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Although the seventy-six-hour struggle for Tarawa in 1943 was almost immediately christened the “bloodiest battle in Marine history,” it swiftly faded from the public imagination and was soon overtaken by other momentous events in the Pacific war.

For Tarawa, obscurity was the normal state of affairs. Few newspapers bothered to mention that the remote Gilbert Islands were part of Japan’s massive December 1941 offensive, focusing instead on more strategically important attacks at Pearl Harbor, the Philippines, Hong Kong, Singapore, and beyond. Even the marines of the Second Division would not hear of Tarawa until less than a week before they headed into the fiery maw of battle. Once they did, they made jokes, singing, “Tuh-RA-wa BOOM de-ay” in the hulls of transport ships and chuckling at the ridiculous name of the islet, “BEE-tee-oh.” Most just used Helen and Longsuit, the respective code names for Betio (pronounced BAY-so) and Tarawa (ta-DHA-wa, with a soft “r” and only the lightest emphasis on the middle syllable).

But the humble Gilberts had a long, if mostly uneventful, history before World War II. The islands, which today span both the equator and the International Date Line, were once volcanic cones created by submarine eruptions millennia ago. The broad fringing reef surrounding Betio today was built during a prehistoric formation during a period of high seas some twelve thousand years ago.1 The chain that would come to be known as the Gilberts comprise sixteen atolls and 117 separate islands spanning millions of square kilometers of ocean. Today Tarawa is one of the most remote locations in the Pacific, situated one degree north of the equator, 2,390 miles northeast of Brisbane, Australia, and 2,394 miles southwest of Hawaii. Travel straight north, you won’t strike land until Siberia; south, it’s Antarctica.

Tarawa was probably first settled about three thousand years ago by Southeast Asian people who canoed from the Caroline Islands some two thousand miles across open ocean.2 The inhabitants developed a Micronesian dialect and told the story of how Nareau the spider named the sky “Karawa,” the ocean “Marawa,” and the land between, “Tarawa.”3

A Portuguese ship searching for Terra Australis, the fabled southern continent, brought the first recorded Western explorers to the area in 1606. British Captain Thomas Gilbert first mapped the wedge-like Tarawa Atoll in 1788, but the surrounding islands weren’t named in his honor until 1820, curiously, by a Russian admiral.4 The first American ship, the USS Peacock, visited in 1828, and in 1856 the Rev. Hiram Bingham sailed from Boston on a mission to convert the islanders to Christianity.5

The British hoisted the Union Jack over Tarawa in 1892 and eventually annexed the islands in 1915 to facilitate the extraction of phosphates—fossilized bird dung useful in making fertilizer and detergents—from other islands in the region. Germans arrived to export dried coconut and the United States and Britain bickered about air- and sea-lane rights, but to Western eyes, Tarawa was just a sleepy backwater of the British Empire.6

Then, following its defeat in World War I, Germany ceded control of its Pacific colonies, including Micronesia—the Caroline, Marianas, and Marshall islands—to the burgeoning Japanese empire. By 1940, Japanese residents outnumbered natives on those islands by seventy thousand to fifty thousand.7 Partially in reaction to sleights, real and perceived, by the United States, Britain, and Australia, Japan withdrew from the soon-to-be-defunct League of Nations and began flexing its muscles across Asia and the Pacific. Japan invaded China in 1937 and in 1940 occupied northern Indochina with the acquiescence of the French colonial government. On June 27, 1941, Japan announced its plans for a Greater East Asian Co-Prosperity Sphere, which was to include Australia, Burma, India, Malaya, New Guinea, New Zealand, and Thailand, spurring immediate embargoes on Japanese goods by the US and Britain. On July 16, following a military takeover of the government, General Hideki Tojo became Prime Minister. Sensing imminent war, many Europeans, Australians, and New Zealanders began to leave Tarawa over the coming months and Britain started evacuating residents to Australia.

On December 10, 1941, just two days (accounting for the International Date Line) after shocking the world with its bold attacks on Pearl Harbor and British and Dutch colonies in Asia, two Japanese warships anchored in Tarawa’s lagoon. Two hundred rikusentai—Japan’s marines—went ashore and ordered the Western population off the atoll, allowing only the nuns at the Our Lady of the Sacred Heart convent on Bairiki and twenty-two British and New Zealand coastwatchers to remain.

The “Commander of Japanese Squadron” nailed up a declaration outside the post office on Betio: “The Empire of Japan declared war on America Britain and Dutch Indies to break down these hostilities on Dec. 8th and Japanese Naval Forces have occupied Gilbert Islands to day in the morning. It is our duty to secure the military supremacy in to our hands but we have never enmity for the Gilbert people. According the peoples to do the peaceful conduct will be protected sufficiently, but if you will do hostile acts or do not submit my order, you will be punished with heavy penalties.”8

But the Gilberts’ new rulers paid little heed to Tarawa for many months, instead focusing their efforts on building an airstrip for weather monitoring planes on Butaritari island some 150 miles north. The Americans did not view the islands as strategically important, and with the exception of a single carrier-based bombing raid in February 1942, ignored them.9

All that would go by the wayside on August 17, 1942, when 220 men from Col. Evans Carlson’s 2nd Marine Raider Battalion attacked Butaritari in an attempt to divert Japanese resources away from the invasion of Guadalcanal, launched ten days earlier. The assault was a minor disaster, as the Japanese drove the marines back into the sea, leaving nine behind to be captured and later beheaded. Worse, the attack convinced Japanese Fleet Adm. Isoroku Yamamato that the Gilberts might be more important to Japanese war aims than previously assumed, and he issued orders to reinforce, fortify, and build an airstrip on Betio, the western terminus of Tarawa Atoll.

Under the direction of Rear Admiral Tomanari Saichiro, a skilled engineer, Japanese troops, with the help of several hundred Korean forced laborers and Gilbertese men pressed into service, were soon hard at work. They built dozens of steel-reinforced concrete bunkers and pillboxes—some with three-and-a-half-foot-thick walls, standing fifteen or twenty feet high, and covered with tons of sand, coconut logs, and railroad ties, making them both less visible and more impervious to American bombers. They built twenty gun mounts around the island’s perimeter and armed them with ten 75mm mountain guns, six 70mm cannon, and nine 37mm field artillery pieces. They also brought in four hulking 8-inch guns and placed them on Betio’s south- and west-facing beaches; three still stand today (though long rumored to be booty from the capture of Singapore in 1942, the Japanese actually purchased them from the British in 1905).

They brought in nine light tanks and countless anti-aircraft and -boat guns, and studded the island with machine-gun positions, creating interlocking fields of fire that left virtually no inch of the coastline open to assault.

To thwart amphibious attack, Japanese forces strung miles of heavy barbed wire around Betio, placed giant blocks of concrete across the reef, and built a three-foot high coconut-log seawall, to block passage of tanks and transports.10 When the work was mostly done in May, the Sasebo 7th Special Navy Landing Force joined the Yokosuka 6th Special Landing Force on Betio, swelling the garrison to nearly five thousand men.11

Built in response to Carlson’s small raid on Makin, this massive fortification of Betio would become one of three main factors contributing to merciless carnage some six months later.

When the First Marine Division stormed the beaches of the mosquito-choked jungle island of Guadalcanal in the Solomon Islands on August 7, 1942, Americans back home desperately needed a glimmer of hope. There hadn’t been a lot of good news from the Pacific since Pearl Harbor.

On March 11, despite previous assurances that things were going well, Gen. Douglas MacArthur abandoned the island of Corregidor in the dead of night under orders from President Roosevelt, fleeing before a Japanese onslaught that would soon overrun the Philippines and lead to the horrific Bataan Death March. The supremely confident forces of the Japanese Empire had swept across the southwest Pacific and appeared poised to drive into Australia, exposed when most of its troops had been commandeered for the British fight against the Axis powers in North Africa. The Japanese already had taken Manila, the Dutch East Indies, North Borneo, New Britain, and British-held Singapore, once thought invincible, with relative ease. And while it didn’t amount to much, a Japanese submarine had even surfaced off Santa Barbara, California to shell an oil refinery, raising the specter of an invasion of the continental United States.

There were, to be sure, a few heartening glimmers. Though of little strategic value, the daring B-25 raids on Tokyo on April 8, 1942, led by Col. James Doolittle, showed the enemy that America could, and would, fight for its life. And in June, US and British sea forces fended off Japan’s attack on Midway Island, thanks in part to the work of American code breakers. Still, the losses continued to pile up, as the Japanese took Burma in May and claimed the southern end of Alaska’s Aleutian Islands in June. By July they had also landed in northern New Guinea and the Solomon Islands, threatening to cut off Australia and New Zealand from the United States.

On the American side, a tug-of-war between Navy Adm. Chester W. Nimitz, commander of the Pacific Fleet, and the Army’s Gen. Douglas MacArthur had resulted in a dual strategy for retaking the Pacific. MacArthur favored going straight to the Philippines after retaking New Guinea. Nimitz advocated using amphibious marine assaults to take objectives in an “island-hopping” campaign that would allow the Navy to construct airfields ever closer to the Japanese home islands and ramp up bombing raids. In the end, advisors to President Roosevelt and British Prime Minister Winston Churchill endorsed a pincers strategy, with MacArthur “leapfrogging” in the western theater and Nimitz island-hopping across the central Pacific.

American military planners had expected war with Japan as far back as 1920 and my grandfather had not been far behind: “Everyone thought I was crazy to say in 1932 that such an insignificant people would dare tackle the mighty United States,” he wrote his mother.12
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